S260736

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA**

VERA SEROVA,

Plaintiff / Respondent

vs.

SONY MUSIC ENTERTAINMENT; JOHN BRANCA, AS
CO-EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF MICHAEL J.
JACKSON; AND MJJ PRODUCTIONS, INC.

Defendant / Appellant

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. B280526
APPEAL From the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Hon. Ann I.
Jones (Los Angeles Super. Ct. Case No. BC548468)

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(Service on Attorney General and District Attorney required by
Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17209, 17536.5)

MOSS BOLLINGER LLP

Dennis F. Moss

Jeremy F. Bollinger

Ari E. Moss

15300 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 207

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Do representations a seller made about a creative product on the product packaging and in advertisements during an ongoing controversy constitute speech in connection with an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute (Code of Civ. Proc., § 425.16)?
2. For purposes of liability under the Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq.) and the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq.), do the seller's marketing representations constitute commercial speech, and does it matter if the seller lacked personal knowledge that the representations were false? (See *Kasky v. Nike, Inc.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 939.)

II. INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents a simple question: did the Legislature intend the anti-SLAPP mechanism to encumber the right of consumers to sue sellers who misrepresent the contents of the products they are selling? The answer is a definitive no. In a sense, this case represents the utmost perversion of anti-SLAPP, a use of the anti-SLAPP motion to stifle the right to petition which, among other things, the anti-SLAPP statute was designed to protect.

This is a textbook false advertising case. The manufacturers and sellers of a music album, Sony Music Entertainment, the estate of Michael Jackson and MJJ Productions, Inc. (collectively, Sony) represented on an album's packaging and in advertisements that the album released for sale

consisted of Michael Jackson's recordings when three of the album's songs (known as the Cascio recordings) were—for purposes of the anti-SLAPP motion at the heart of this appeal—undisputedly sung by a Jackson impersonator. A consumer, Vera Serova, sued. Unlike a typical false advertising lawsuit, this case has been stuck at the pleading stage for four years over an anti-SLAPP motion in which Sony accuses Serova of chilling Sony's purportedly protected right to attribute the album to Jackson even if it contains songs sung by an impersonator. Sony secured a misguided ruling in the Court of Appeal that held (1) its album advertisements were protected by Section 425.16 of the California Code of Civil Procedure (the anti-SLAPP statute) because of an unresolved public controversy over the authenticity of the Cascio recordings; and (2) the advertisements were noncommercial speech not actionable under the California consumer protection laws because the album seller, Sony, advertised the Cascio recordings to consumers as Jackson's songs not knowing whether those advertisements were true or false. The rulings on both prongs are patently absurd and create perilous consequences for California consumers. The decision should be reversed in its entirety.

First, Sony's packaging and advertising statements at issue did not participate in the controversy about the authenticity of the Cascio recordings. The statements describe the content of Sony's product to consumers and, by Sony's own admission, do not speak about the authenticity of the Cascio recordings. The statements' tangential relation to a public controversy is

insufficient to make them protected speech under *All One God Faith, Inc. v. Organic & Sustainable Industry Standards, Inc.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1186 (*All One God Faith*) because Sony's focus in making the statements was not on the public issue, but on promoting sales of its product. The context of the statements is purely commercial. As recognized by the Court of Appeal (*Serova v. Sony Music Entm't* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 103, 122, 126–127 (*Serova II*)), they were made by Sony, the seller, to the consuming audience who was generally unaware of the controversy surrounding the Cascio recordings with the purpose to sell albums. Sony has not presented (and could not present, in light of its admission) any contrary evidence of context. Under this Court's recent decision in *FilmOn.com Inc. v. DoubleVerify Inc.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 133 (*FilmOn*), such advertisements, even when publicly made, do not participate in public discourse and thus do not have the requisite connection to an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute.

Second, Sony's advertisements fall squarely under the definition of commercial speech formulated by this Court for purposes of applying state laws designed to prevent false advertising and other forms of commercial deception in *Kasky v. Nike, Inc.* (2002) 27 Cal. 4th 939 (*Kasky*). They constitute factual representations made by a seller about the seller's product to an audience of consumers. (*Kasky*, at pp. 960–961.) Contrary to the Court of Appeal's view, Sony's personal knowledge is immaterial to this inquiry because both the Unfair Competition Law (UCL; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 *et seq.*) and the Consumers Legal

Remedies Act (CLRA; Civ. Code, § 1750 *et seq.*) are strict liability statutes that do not include an element of personal knowledge. Consumers generally have no way of telling whether an advertiser has personal knowledge of advertised facts. Conditioning a consumer's right to recover on the advertiser's personal knowledge of the facts represented eviscerates the protections purposefully provided by the Legislature to California consumers under the UCL and CLRA and reverts California consumer protection law to the era of *caveat emptor*. Moreover, the remedial, preventive and deterrent purposes of the UCL and CLRA can only be achieved if product advertisers are held accountable for their misrepresentations of fact regardless of their personal knowledge of the facts they represent. Only when facing the prospect of having to remedy harm caused to consumers, will advertisers be motivated to be careful in their representations about products on packaging and in advertising.

The fact that the product in this case is an expressive work does not change these considerations. Serova's claims do not arise from the expressive content of the work. Rather, the claims target misleading advertisements which falsely represent the source of the work, much like a false label on a counterfeit product. Such factual misrepresentations *about* an expressive product made by a seller to consumers constitute commercial speech under *Kasky*. (See also *Keimer v. Buena Vista Books, Inc.* (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1220, 1229–1230 (*Keimer*)). A requirement that sellers of expressive works provide truthful disclosures about the works' content and authorship to the extent needed to avoid consumer

deception does not stifle the flow of expressive speech, it enhances it by conveying truth to consumers about the expressive works, rather than falsehoods.

The number of legal theories raised by Sony and the Court of Appeal below creates an impression that the issues before the Court are novel and highly controversial. In reality, however, Serova only asks this Court to restore the status quo with a conventional ruling that false advertising is actionable.

III. LEGAL STANDARD

“A SLAPP suit—a strategic lawsuit against public participation—seeks to chill or punish a party’s exercise of constitutional rights to free speech and to petition the government for redress of grievances. The Legislature enacted ... section 425.16—known as the anti-SLAPP statute—to provide a procedural remedy to dispose of lawsuits that are brought to chill the valid exercise of constitutional rights.” (*Rusheen v. Cohen* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1048, 1055–1056.)

To determine whether a cause of action should be stricken, the anti-SLAPP statute establishes a two-part test. First, the court must decide whether the defendant has satisfied its burden of showing that the challenged cause of action arose from the defendant's protected activity. (*Baral v. Schnitt* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 376, 384.) “If the defendant makes the required showing, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to demonstrate the merit of the claim by establishing a probability of success.” (*Ibid.*)

This Court reviews the ruling on an anti-SLAPP motion *de novo*. (*Park v. Board of Trustees of California State University* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1057, 1067.)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

This case is a putative consumer class action about what purports to be an album of Michael Jackson's recordings titled *Michael*, released for sale by Sony after Jackson's death.

For purposes of this appeal, the allegations in the operative First Amended Complaint (FAC) are undisputed. (*Serova II, supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 111 n.3 and accompanying text) Since *Michael's* inception, prior to its release for sale by Sony, the authenticity of three recordings on the album (the Cascio recordings) has been controversial. (CT 1:116 [FAC] ¶ 11.) Sony purchased the Cascio recordings from individuals Edward Cascio and James Porte (also defendants in this suit, but not parties to this appeal), who told Sony that Jackson sang on these recordings prior to his death. (CT 1:116–117 [FAC] ¶¶ 12–16.) Sony subsequently announced that it was going to release the Cascio recordings on the *Michael* album. (CT 1:117 [FAC] ¶¶ 17, 19.)

When Jackson's family and fans heard the recordings before the album release, a controversy ensued, with multiple members of the family and a number of fans stating publicly and to Sony that the singer on the Cascio recordings was not Jackson. (CT 1:118 [FAC] ¶ 20.) In response to the controversy, attorney Howard Weitzman issued a statement on behalf of Sony to Jackson fan clubs claiming that Sony had conducted an internal

investigation, procured an opinion of forensic musicologists, and concluded the vocals on the Cascio recordings belonged to Jackson. (CT 1:118–119 [FAC] ¶ 22.) Defendant Cascio appeared on Oprah Winfrey’s show where he addressed the controversy and responded to Oprah’s questions about the authenticity of the Cascio recordings with assurances that the vocals on them belonged to Jackson. (CT 1:119 [FAC] ¶ 25.)

Sony released *Michael* containing 10 songs—the three Cascio recordings and seven undisputed Jackson recordings—and marketed it as an album by Michael Jackson. (CT 1:119 [FAC] ¶¶ 26–27.)

The album cover contains the album name “Michael,” and multiple depictions of Michael Jackson. The back of the cover provides a representation of fact, not an opinion: “This album contains 9 previously unreleased vocal tracks performed by Michael Jackson”¹ (CT 1:119 [FAC] ¶ 27, CT 1:144-147; 2:275 at ¶5b [authenticating album cover].))

¹ The tenth song on the album was previously released in 2004.

Sony advertised the release of the album with a video commercial in which the narrator presents *Michael* as “a brand-new album from the greatest artist of all time.” (CT 1:119 [FAC] ¶ 24; Videos Concerning Defs. Anti-SLAPP Motions lodged with the trial court, Video 1 at 0:23, authenticated at CT 2:269–70; 2:275 at ¶5c.) Neither the album cover nor the video commercial disclosed to album buyers that the identity of the singer on three of the album tracks was uncertain or controversial.

The singer on the Cascio recordings is not Michael Jackson (as stipulated by Sony for purposes of this anti-SLAPP motion during the lower court proceedings further discussed below). (*Serova II, supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 113.)

Prior to this action, Serova engaged an independent audio expert, Doctor George Papcun, for an independent assessment whether Jackson had performed the lead vocals on the Cascio recordings. Dr. Papcun concluded that it was very likely that Jackson had not sung on the contested recordings. Before filing the lawsuit, Serova’s counsel had Dr. Papcun’s expert report peer reviewed by another well-credentialed independent audio expert. (CT 1:122 [FAC] ¶ 33.)

B. Trial Court Proceedings

Plaintiff and Petitioner Vera Serova commenced this action on June 12, 2014. The operative FAC alleges that Jackson did not sing on the Cascio recordings and that Sony violated the UCL and CLRA by advertising *Michael* as an album of Jackson songs. (*Serova II, supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at pp. 111–112.) In particular,

the FAC alleged the album cover and video commercial were false or misleading because Jackson does not sing on the three Cascio recordings.²

In response to the complaint, Sony filed an anti-SLAPP motion under California's anti-SLAPP statute, arguing that its statements on the album cover and in the video commercial constituted speech in connection with an issue of public interest protected by the anti-SLAPP statute, and Serova could not prevail on her UCL and CLRA claims because the statements were noncommercial speech not actionable under these statutes, or, alternatively, not misleading as a matter of law. (*Serova II*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 113.)

To permit a ruling on the anti-SLAPP motion in advance of discovery, the parties stipulated solely for purposes of the motion, that Michael Jackson did not sing the lead vocals on the Cascio recordings. The parties also stipulated to the authenticity of copies of the album cover and the video commercial. (*Ibid.*)

Thus, the scope of the anti-SLAPP motion was limited to three legal issues:

(1) Whether Sony's statements were speech in connection with an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute;

² The FAC also alleged that Howard Weitzman's statement to fan clubs and defendant Cascio's statement to Oprah were misleading. The trial court found those statements noncommercial (*Serova II*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 114), and Serova did not appeal that ruling.

(2) Whether Sony's statements were actionable as commercial speech under the UCL and CLRA; and

(3) Whether Sony's statements could mislead a reasonable consumer if the Cascio recordings were forgeries not containing Jackson's vocals.

The trial court, in its pre-*FilmOn* ruling, found the statements on the album cover and in the video commercial met the definition of speech in connection with an issue of public interest under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis. The trial court found that the statements were simply promotional materials that "did not speak to the controversy surrounding the performance [or] address or refute" the allegations concerning the Cascio recordings, but found that the statements nevertheless concerned an issue of public interest because "Michael Jackson's professional standing and accomplishments created legitimate and widespread attention to the release of a new album." (*Ibid.*)

The trial court, however, ruled in Serova's favor, finding that Serova could prevail because the statements were commercial and therefore actionable under the UCL and CLRA. The court rejected Sony's argument that these advertising statements were "inextricably intertwined" with the Cascio recordings themselves under *Riley v. National Federation of Blind* (1988) 487 U.S. 781, 796. The trial court also found the statements on the album cover and in the video commercial were likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. (*Serova II*, at p. 114.)

C. First Decision of the Court of Appeal

Sony challenged the trial court's rulings that: (1) the album cover and the video commercial were commercial speech that may be subject to claims under the UCL and CLRA; and that (2) the representations in those materials were likely to deceive a reasonable consumer.

In the Court of Appeal, Serova argued that the trial court's disposition of the motion on the basis of the second anti-SLAPP prong was correct, and also asserted, as an alternative ground for affirming the trial court decision, that the advertising statements her claims arose from do not constitute speech in connection with an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute.

The Court of Appeal began its first opinion, pre-*FilmOn*, by expressly rejecting Sony's attempt to invoke the Section 425.17, subdivision (d)(2) "artistic work" exception to the commercial speech exemption from the anti-SLAPP statute to justify reversal of the trial court, finding that the exception did not confer blanket anti-SLAPP protection to commercial speech in the form of advertising of music, but instead required the court to evaluate whether the advertising meets the definition of "protected" conduct under section 425.16, subdivision (e). (*Serova v. Sony Music Entm't* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 759, 770–771 (*Serova I*).)³

³ This analysis was reiterated in *Serova II*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at pp. 115–117.

The Court of Appeal then affirmed the trial court ruling under the first anti-SLAPP prong finding that the album cover and the video commercial constituted speech in connection with an issue of public interest because the representations at issue “concerned the body of work of a well-known artist and an album containing his songs that generated significant public attention.” (*Id.* at pp. 772–773.)

As to the second anti-SLAPP prong, the Court of Appeal recognized that the statements on the album cover and in the video commercial “were made in the context of promoting the album” to an audience of “potential purchasers” but reversed the trial court ruling, holding that the statements were noncommercial speech under *Kasky* because Sony lacked the “critical element” of “personal” knowledge of the misrepresented facts. (*Id.* at pp. 775–779.) The Court of Appeal concluded, in a radical departure from precedent, that an advertiser is insulated from liability for the misrepresentations of facts about its products to consumers if the misrepresentations were not based on personal knowledge, reasoning that such misrepresentations of facts are “opinions.” (*Id.* at p. 777.) The Court of Appeal further concluded that Sony’s attribution of the album to Jackson in sales efforts was “integral to the artistic significance of the songs themselves,” and thus was noncommercial. (*Id.* at pp. 765, 779–781.)

The Court of Appeal did not reach the question of whether Sony’s statements could mislead a reasonable consumer.

D. First Petition for Review

Serova petitioned for review challenging the first Court of Appeal decision. This Court granted review on December 12, 2018, deferring further action pending consideration and disposition of *FilmOn*. On May 6, 2019, *FilmOn* was decided. Four months later this Court transferred the case back to the Court of Appeal in light of the decision in *FilmOn*.

E. Second Decision of the Court of Appeal

On January 8, 2020, the Court of Appeal issued its second opinion in this matter. The Court of Appeal revised its first-prong analysis to include references to *FilmOn*, but again concluded that Sony's statements on the album cover and in the video commercial constituted protected speech. This time, the Court of Appeal reasoned the speech represented in those sales communications participated in the controversy about the authenticity of the Cascio recordings. (*Serova II, supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at pp. 117–124.)

The Court of Appeal's second prong analysis under *Kasky* remained the same, doubling down on the notion that misrepresentations of fact in the sales context do not give rise to liability if the speaker did not have firsthand knowledge of the facts. (*Id.* at p. 126.) The Court of Appeal also reiterated its views that misrepresentations of the performer of recordings in the sales context are entitled to full First Amendment protection. (*Id.* at p. 131–132.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. **Serova’s claims do not arise from protected activity because the challenged statements were not made “in connection” with any issue of public interest.**

1. *The FilmOn framework.*

The anti-SLAPP statute protects any act “in furtherance of [a] person’s right of petition or free speech under [the] United States Constitution or the California Constitution in connection with a public issue.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16 subd. (b)(1).) Where, as here, the challenged speech was not connected with a governmental proceeding, to qualify as an act in furtherance of a person’s right of petition or free speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue, the moving party (Sony) must show its speech was:

(3) any written or oral statement or writing made in a place open to the public or a public forum in connection with an issue of public interest, or (4) any other conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16 subds. (e)(3), (e)(4).)

In *FilmOn*, this Court clarified that the defendant’s burden to show its speech was made “in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest” under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP framework⁴ requires the defendant not only to identify

⁴ *FilmOn* introduced its framework under subdivision (e)(4) of section 425.16 because the speech at issue there was private and

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