Case No. S260736

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Vera Serova,
Plaintiff and Respondent Below,

v.

Sony Music Entertainment; John Branca, as Co-Executor of the
Estate of Michael J. Jackson; and MJJ Productions, Inc.
Defendants and Appellants Below.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division 2
Case No. B280526

DEFENDANTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

*ZIA F. MODABBER (SBN 137388)
ANDREW J. DEMKO (SBN 247320)
TAMI KAMEDA SIMS (SBN 245628)
SHELBY A. PALMER (SBN 329450)
KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP
2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 788-4400 Facsimile: (310) 788-4471

HOWARD WEITZMAN (SBN 38723)

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

point of acquisition, believed by the harumphing experts of the day to be by painter X, without a doubt.” (*Ibid.*)

Accordingly, regulating attributional statements identifying artists will not encourage greater accuracy. It will only impose harsh penalties for mistakes in attributing artwork, even if made in good faith. In the face of strict and substantial liability, entities would err on the side of *not* distributing artistic works or not attributing them to an author whenever there was uncertainty, which would chill artistic expression and hinder its dissemination.

The chilling effect would be particularly problematic, when, as here, an artist has passed away, because uncertainty on whether works were created by the deceased are common. As the Court of Appeal noted, there is controversy surrounding whether compositions by Johann Sebastian Bach were attributable to him or his wife, and doubt about whether Leonardo da Vinci actually painted a famous work attributed to him. (*Serova, supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 130, fn. 17.) Likewise, there is a centuries old controversy on whether someone other than William Shakespeare wrote the works attributed to him.⁸

⁸ The Tennessee Law Review devoted a symposium to “Who Wrote Shakespeare? An Evidentiary Puzzle.” (See, e.g., William F. Causey, *Burden of Proof and Presumptions in the Shakespeare Authorship Debate* (2005) 72 Tenn. L. Rev. 93 [explaining the “controversy over who wrote the works attributed to William Shakespeare is a fascinating intellectual debate” that has “existed for over two hundred years”].)

Given the uncertainty involved with identifying credit and attribution for expressive works, media defendants require editorial discretion and deference over these decisions, not the threat of liability for even innocent mistakes. Courts recognize that a media defendant’s right of free speech includes editorial discretion on what content should be included for dissemination to the public and how it should be presented. (*City of Los Angeles v. Preferred Communications, Inc.* (1986) 476 U.S. 488, 494 [“cable operators exercise a significant amount of editorial discretion regarding what their programming will include,” internal quotation and citation omitted]; *Wilson, supra*, 7 Cal.5th, at p. 895 [courts recognize “the full freedom and liberty of the petitioner to publish the news as it desires” which guides them in “distinguish[ing] between permissible regulation and unconstitutional interference with a newspaper’s editorial judgment,” internal quotation and citation omitted]; *Greater Los Angeles Agency on Deafness, Inc. v. Cable News Network, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2014) 742 F.3d 414, 423 [CNN’s editorial discretion includes “affirmative decisions about what content to post on its web site and how that content is displayed” which “furthers CNN’s free speech right”].)

In ultimately selecting the Cascio Recordings for inclusion on *Michael*, MJJ exercised its editorial discretion, based on the best available information available to it, on whether the recordings belonged in Jackson’s catalog of work. Even if MJJ’s decision was unknowingly erroneous, that editorial decision-making requires breathing room that should not be subject to government regulation imposing strict liability. (See *McFarlane, supra*, 74

F.3d at pp. 1299, 1303-1304 [where plaintiff alleged article falsely conveyed he was a spy, editorial embellishment that pushed the theory forward had to be shown to be made with actual malice].)

Serova's assertion that MJJ could avoid liability by including a disclaimer misses the point. (AOB 53.) Serova's cited authority provides that disclaimers may be a remedy for false advertising (*ibid.*, citing *In re R.M.J.* (1982) 455 U.S. 191, 203), which is necessarily *after* the speech is already deemed commercial. But where speech is not commercial, a disclaimer is improper because the right to free speech "inherently involves choices of what to say and what to leave unsaid." (*Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. Pub. Utilities Comm'n of California* (1986) 475 U.S. 1, 11 (*Pacific Gas*)). The "essential thrust" of First Amendment protection is "shield[ing] the man who wants to speak or publish" and also protecting the "concomitant freedom not to speak." (*Harper & Row Publishers, Inc. v. Nation Enterprises* (1985) 471 U.S. 539, 559.) This does not mean that a speaker has the "right to be free from vigorous debate," but a regulation cannot require a speaker "to assist in disseminating [its opponent's] views." (*Pacific Gas, supra*, 475 U.S. at p. 14 [striking down law that required defendant to include opponent's view].) In this case, once MJJ conducted its extensive investigations, it was entitled to formulate an opinion and conclusion, exercise their editorial judgment, and make decisions going forward consistent with its conclusion. By identifying Michael Jackson as the artist on the Cascio Recordings, MJJ took a position on the public controversy surrounding whether Jackson was the artist on the

Cascio Recordings, and was not required to further publicize the controversy, or worse, disavow its beliefs and give credence to the oppositional view.

The bottom line: Regulating attributional statements of art to artists is likely to chill speech, which means that such speech is not hardy, a fundamental attribute of commercial speech.

5. Regulating the Challenged Speech is not consistent with traditional government authority to regulate commercial transactions.

Under *Kasky*, speech should only be deemed commercial—i.e., subjecting the speaker to strict liability for falsity—if it is “consistent with traditional government authority to regulate commercial transactions for the protection of consumers by preventing false and misleading commercial practices.” (*Kasky, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 964.) Regulation of the Challenged Speech here does not meet this requirement.

As an initial matter, the Challenged Speech in this case falls outside traditional regulation of speech on matters of public concern. Generally, for false statements on issues of public concern, states may define their own standard of liability “so long as they *do not impose liability without fault.*” (*Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.* (1974) 418 U.S. 323, 347 (*Gertz*), italics added.) This is so because a “rule of strict liability that compels a publisher or broadcaster to guarantee the accuracy of his factual assertions may lead to

intolerable self-censorship.” (*Id.* at p. 340.)⁹ Accordingly, “the First Amendment generally precludes the imposition of liability upon a publisher for its expressive activities, except upon a finding of fault.” (*Stewart, supra*, 181 Cal.App.4th at p. 681.)

MJJ’s Challenged Speech directly relates to matters of public concern: namely, Michael Jackson himself and his album *Michael*, and the public controversy over the identity of the artist on the Cascio Recordings. (CT 1:116 [FAC ¶ 11].) Given this connection, MJJ’s Challenged Speech cannot be subject to strict liability because doing so would be inconsistent with how the government ordinarily regulates statements of public concern, and fails to withstand constitutional scrutiny.

Regulating the Challenged Speech is also not consistent with the type of speech that has traditionally been regulated as misleading commercial practices. *Kasky* explained that the government has traditionally regulated false statements about products, their origin, how they were made, or by whom. (*Kasky, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 964 [listing statutes].) All of the statutes *Kasky* referred to regulate some aspect of the production of the

⁹ Analogously, California courts have preserved this constitutional protection in right-of-publicity cases, by requiring a plaintiff suing based on a statement of public concern to prove that the statement was a “knowing or reckless falsehood.” (*Eastwood v. Superior Court* (1983) 149 Cal.App.3d 409, 425 (*Eastwood*), superseded by statute on other grounds as explained by *KNB Enterprises v. Matthews* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 362, 367, fn. 5.)

tangible commercial product, such as ensuring truthful statements on a product labeled as “Made in U.S.A.” or that a product was “made by blind workers” or “made by authentic American Indian labor.” (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.) Statements such as these are consistent with the type of speech that this Court has identified as being readily verifiable by the manufacturer like the “working conditions in factories where Nike products are made.” (*Ibid.*) Here, the Challenged Speech, statements of attribution identifying the artist of an artistic work, is not speech relating to the production of a tangible commercial product.

The bottom line: Regulating the Challenged Speech fundamentally diverges from traditional regulation of commercial transactions, indicating that it should not be deemed commercial speech.

6. Even assuming the attribution of artistic expression is commercial speech, it is “inextricably intertwined” with fully protected speech and is therefore entitled to full First Amendment protection.

Even if material is found to meet the threshold classification for commercial speech because it does no more than propose a commercial transaction, “courts must determine whether the speech still receives full First Amendment protection, because the commercial aspects of the speech are ‘inextricably intertwined’ with otherwise fully protected speech.” (*Dex Media West, Inc. v. City of Seattle* (2012) 696 F.3d 952, 958.) When commercial speech is “inextricably intertwined” with noncommercial speech it does not retain its commercial character. (*Riley v. Nat. Federation of the*

Blind of N.C., Inc. (1988) 487 U.S. 781, 796.) As such, the “level of scrutiny” that applies to speech must be determined from “the nature of the speech taken as a whole.” (*Ibid.*) When, as here, it would be “both artificial and impractical” to “parcel out the speech, applying one test to one phrase and another test to another phrase,” the “test for fully protected expression” applies. (*Ibid.*)

For example, in *Hoffman v. Capital Cities/ABC, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2001) 255 F.3d 1180, an actor brought suit against a magazine and its publisher for *inter alia* violation of his right of publicity and unfair competition based on a published photograph that falsely depicted him wearing fashion designers’ women’s clothes. (*Id.* at p. 1182-1183.) The actor contended that the feature in which the photograph appeared was commercial speech because it highlighted fashion items by brands that advertised in the magazine. (*Id.* at 1185.) The court held that the magazine feature was entitled to full First Amendment protection afforded to noncommercial speech, even if the portrayal was false and despite the commercial elements. (*Id.* at 1185-1186.) In context, “the article as a whole [was] a combination of fashion photography, humor, and visual and verbal editorial comment on classic films and famous actors,” such that any commercial aspects were “inextricably entwined with expressive elements.” (*Id.* at 1185.) Thus, the article was deemed noncommercial speech and the actor had to prove actual malice to recover damages. (*Id.* at 1186-1187.)

Similarly, in *Stutzman v. Armstrong* (E.D.Cal., Sept. 10, 2013, No. 2:13-CV-00116-MCE) 2013 WL 4853333, the court applied the inextricably intertwined doctrine to bar plaintiffs’ UCL and CLRA claims against cyclist Lance Armstrong and the publishers of his book. The statements at issue were false statements on the book’s jackets and flyleaves that Armstrong did not use performance enhancing drugs, including that the book was “non-fiction.” (*Id.* at pp. *1, *17-18.) The court found it impossible to separate the cover’s content—which included a summary of the book’s content, its description as non-fiction, and its description of Armstrong as a Tour de France champion even though he had been stripped of his titles—from the fully protected contents of the book itself. (*Id.* at pp. *17-18.) In finding the books’ covers and flyleaves were protected, the court reasoned that for a book to be sold at all, there has to be some leeway to describe the work and its author without transforming that expression into commercial speech. (*Id.* at p. *18; see also *Mattel, supra*, 296 F.3d at pp. 903-907 [holding the song “Barbie Girl” was commercial speech because it used Mattel’s famous mark, but that it was inextricably intertwined with noncommercial speech commenting on the cultural use of Barbie so the entire song was “fully protected”]; *Boule v. Hutton* (2d Cir. 2003) 328 F.3d 84, 88, 91-92 [statements on the authenticity of plaintiff’s paintings made in an article on “a matter of public concern—fraud in the art market” were inextricably intertwined with protected speech and thus “not commercial speech”].)

Other courts have similarly held that commercial speech that is merely adjunct to noncommercial speech, i.e. “promotes only the protected publication,” is itself protected absent a showing that the publishers knew their statements were false or published them in reckless disregard for their truth. (*Cher v. Forum Internat., Ltd.* (9th Cir. 1982) 692 F.2d 634, 639 [First Amendment protections extend to advertising that “is merely an adjunct” of protected speech]; *William O’Neil & Co., Inc. v. Validea.com Inc.* (C.D.Cal. 2002) 202 F.Supp.2d 113, 1119 [holding that “because the book cover, flyleaf, and other material advertising The Market Gurus is ‘an adjunct’ of The Market Gurus, it is protected to the same extent as the book itself”]; *People v. Fogelson* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 158, 165, fn. 7 [“promotion of constitutionally protected written works is protected as an incident to the First Amendment value of the underlying speech or activity”].)

In this case, statements identifying the artist/performer as Michael Jackson are inextricably intertwined with the musical work (the *Michael* album including the Cascio Recordings) and “cannot be separated.” (*Hoffman, supra*, 255 F.3d at p. 1185.) Indeed, one could not, as a practical matter, distribute musical recordings without identifying the artist because this is the common way that music is identified, sorted, and consumed. In contrast, a company can sell a padlock without claiming that it was “Made in America” (*Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 329), and can sell a personal care product without calling it “organic” (*All One God Faith, supra*, 183 Cal.App.4th at p. 1206-1210). Musical albums, like other

forms of entertainment, “are not mere commercial products,” but are expressive works “plainly entitled to full First Amendment protection.” (See *Forsyth, supra*, 2016 WL 6650059, at pp. *1-3.) And identifying the artist is adjunct to, and inextricably intertwined with, the expression itself.

The bottom line: The attribution to Michael Jackson as the artist on the Cascio Recordings is noncommercial speech entitled to full First Amendment protection, and is not subject to strict liability under the CLRA and UCL.

B. Serova’s Claims Are Preempted by the Copyright Act.

Finally, even if the Challenged Speech is deemed commercial, Serova still could not show a reasonable probability of success on her CLRA and UCL claims for another, independent reason: they are preempted by the Copyright Act.¹⁰

The Copyright Act “govern[s] exclusively” “all legal or equitable rights that are equivalent to any of the exclusive rights within the general scope of copyright.” (17 U.S.C. § 301(a).) Courts follow a two-part test to determine when a cause of action is preempted by the Copyright Act: (1) whether the “subject matter” of the claim “falls within the subject matter of copyright”; and (2) if it does, whether the right plaintiff asserts is “equivalent” to one of

¹⁰ Although Defendants did not raise this issue below, copyright preemption can be raised and decided for the first time on appeal because it goes to the Court’s jurisdiction. (*Balboa Ins. Co. v. Trans Glob. Equities* (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 1327, 1338 (*Balboa*).

the exclusive rights of copyright holders. (*Laws v. Sony Music Entertainment, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2006) 448 F.3d 1134, 1137-1138 (*Laws*); *Melchior v. New Line Productions, Inc.* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 779, 791 [same].)

Here, the first step is easily met: Serova's claims all arise from MJJ's distribution and sale of the Cascio Recordings, which are sound recordings. (AOB 11-14.) Sound recordings are within the scope of copyright law (17 U.S.C. § 102(a)(7)), and it is undisputed that defendant MJJ Productions, Inc. holds the copyright to *Michael*. (CT 1:116 [FAC ¶ 10].)

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